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My Apologies:


Mostly my published articles; so chapters may not be inter-related.


Each chapter is a different scenario.


‘Judges & Generals in Pakistan’ is a collection of essays, may be irritating for someones; explaining diverse scenarios. This book evaluates some varying news, editorials, opinions and criticisms on historical issues.


No misleading intelligence story, no distracting investigative report, no concocted interview and no feed from the ‘concerned ones’ yet everything seems innovative; no fiction in this book but simple narration of facts.





‘It is the collection of tragedies and misgivings which are deliberately buried in suspicious darkness since decades. I’ve simply dig them out, collated and placed together for those who want to keep a track of their past;’ I simply presume.





You read your newspaper daily and regularly and many of you go through it thoroughly but you do not keep record of even important events. This book contains nothing but the news, editorials, opinions and criticisms on certain topics, of course, which have cogent references to your history, your representatives, your leaders, your ideal guides and not the least, your nation, your Pakistan.


People are also living on that part of earth, known as Pakistan, where:





• An army General takes over the country; promises with the nation in a telecast to hold general elections within 90 days but continues to rule for eleven years in the name of Islam.





• A chief justice writes a landmark judgment, a light tower for all generations to come, setting guidelines for induction and promotion of judges in the superior judiciary but lacked courage to impose the same judgment on his own person.





• The Supreme Court has held two opposing judgments in 1993 & 1997 for two opposing Prime Ministers dismissed on the same charges under the same Article 58(2)(b) of the Constitution.





• The two judges (out of 17) of the Supreme Court suddenly pass a judgment commanding their own Chief Justice not to function as Chief Justice.





• The Supreme Court rejects a law of direct legalized corruption (NRO) by one political party but deliberately and continuously ignores indirect legalized corruption through ‘eating up bank loans and mark ups’ by another key political party.





• The civil dictators and monarchs rule the country on turn by turn basis, through family successions but fooling and cheating their people with loud slogans and high banners of democracy.





• The Constitution is democratic by objective but under the constitutional provisions there cannot be elections in the political parties at any level, at any stage or at any place.





• There are tens of parties vowing to bring Islamic Code of Governance but they do not possess any written document to implement the same in practice because they do not have consensus.





• The Federal Shariat Court had been used as a cave to accommodate the ‘punished and disgruntled’ judges of the higher judiciary.





• The Islamic Hudood Laws are in vogue since 1979 but not a single male partner of rape has ever been stoned till today. Female partners are many times stoned and flogged.





I’ve purposefully started the military details after late 1973 to avoid mention of some of our military heroes like Gen Yahya Khan and Gen Tiger Niazi of East Pakistan fame. For the former, his Second in Command Gen Abdul Hameed had instructed the staff that:





‘When boss conveys some orders after sun set, please recheck them all in the morning from me or his staff officer.’





For the later, known facts have explicitly come on record that:





‘He did not hesitate to maltreat the young women even in his office during office hours.’


So I considered better to start with later events.


In Pakistan, an evergreen topic is always found alive in debating forums: Army rule or civil way of governance; which is better. The intelligentsia holds that both were looters. A few families have plundered the national wealth through civil dictatorial rule whereas some army Generals, though made less fortunes for their own but provided extensive opportunities to their ‘helping jageerdars, political Generals, politico-industrialists, peer Syeds and bureaucrats’.


The tragedy has been that the superior judiciary was always found standing by them all, through their compromising attitudes or cowardice or ineptness or sometimes under duress; of course, never for financial gains but occasionally for political slots.


The interference of army in government affairs had even started in the Qaid e Azam days. Just after formation of Pakistan, one General Akbar once dared to know from Qaid e Azam that ‘why you have posted that man at this place and why you have not posted this man at that place.’ The great Qaid immediately went furious and gave a polite bull-shit to the General saying that:





‘It is none of your business to bother about. It is civil government’s domain.’





In the developed nations, decisions about movements of the army for wars are invariably taken in Parliaments and Civil Secretariats. Sir Winston Churchil had once said that:





‘War is too serious a matter to be left with the Generals.’





The same General Akbar was subsequently found involved in a revolt against the 1st Prime Minister of Pakistan Liaqat Ali Khan. Thus the tussle between army and civil governments could find its routs as early as in 1951 onwards.


The judiciary always supported the army coup in Pakistan. But surely, the judiciary alone cannot be made to bear the burden of all our evils. Judicial decisions are not given in a vacuum. Realism has an overwhelming influence on court behaviour.


Borrowing phrases from a famous superior judgment that the ‘doctrine of necessity’ can be made a double-edge sword if courts wanted to. Court decisions are ‘reflections of the time’ and attempts at ‘defining what’s real’. Realism results in verdicts after what judges ‘see right in front of their eyes’; such verdicts have little or nothing to do with Article 6 or 209 or whatever else is in the Constitution.


Tailpiece: “If you are neutral in situations of injustice, you have chosen the side of the oppressor.” Bishop Desmond Tutu (1931-) [Nobel Prize for Peace 1984.]


(Inam R Sehri)


Manchester UK


30th December 2011





It’s me; my Lord!


INAM R SEHRI





• Born in Lyallpur (Pakistan) in April 1948





• First degree from Government College Lyallpur (1969)


• Studied at Government College Lahore & got first Master’s Degree from Punjab University Lahore (1971);


• Attachment with AJK Education Service (1973-1976)


• Central Superior Services (CSS) Exam passed (batch 1975)


• Civil Service Academy Lahore (joined 1976)


• National Police Academy Islamabad (joined 1977)


• LLB from BUZ University Multan (1981)


• Got Master’s Degree from Exeter University of UK (1990)


• Regular Police Service: District Admin, Police College, National Police Academy, the Intelligence Bureau (IB), Federal Investigation Agency (FIA) [1977-1998] then migrated to the UK permanently.


Just spent a normal routine life; with hundreds of mentionable memoirs allegedly of bravery & glamour as every uniformed officer keeps, some times to smile at and next moment to repent upon but taking it just normal except one or two spills. During my tenure at IB HQ Islamabad I got chance to peep into the elite civil and military leadership of Pakistan then existing in governmental dossiers and database.


During my stay at FIA I was assigned to conduct special enquiries & investigations into some acutely sensitive matters like Motorway Scandal, sudden expansion and build-up of Sharif family’s industrial empire, Nawaz Sharif’s accounts in foreign countries; Alleged Financial Corruptions in Pakistan’s Embassies in Far-Eastern Countries; Shahnawaz Bhutto’s murder in Cannes (France); Land Scandals of CDA’s Estate Directorate; Ittefaq Foundry’s ‘custom duty on scrap’ scam, Hudaibya Engineering & Hudaibya Paper Mills enquiries, Bhindara’s Murree Brewery and tens more cases like that.


[Through these words I want to keep it on record that during the course of the above mentioned, (and also which cannot be mentioned due to space limits) investigations or enquiries, the then Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto, or Gen Naseerullah Babar the then Federal Interior Minister, or G Asghar Malik the then DG FIA, had never never issued direct instructions or implicit directions or wished me to distort facts or to go malafide for orchestrating a political edge or other intangible gains. Hats off to all of them!]


I should feel proud that veracity and truthfulness of none of my enquiry or investigation could be challenged or proved false in NAB or Special Courts; yes, most of them were used to avail political compromises by Gen Musharraf’s government. Most of the case files belonging to Sharif Family’s concerns were either ‘removed or got lost’ by ‘well wishers’ of Nawaz Sharif and Ch Shuja’at Hussain from the FIA because in February 1997, PML government was once more in saddles and I was shunted away to the Railway Police.


These case files were ‘lost’ under the garb of their call up and transfers from FIA to ‘Ehtesab Cell’ and the process was manoeuvred by Saif ur Rehman, Nawaz Sharif’s dearest Ehtesab Chief. The second part of that ‘clean up Operation’ was handled by the then PM’s slave judge Malik Qayyum of the Lahore High Court. Under ‘special order or arrangement’ no other judge was able to hear any of the cases connected with Sharif family or their friends.


Researchers of contemporary history can dig out from the records at Lahore High Court pertaining to 1997, which would prove that:


• Not even a single case of aforementioned details was dealt with by any other judge of the High Court except J Malik Qayyum. All the above referred cases were invariably sent to J Malik’s Bench.


• J Malik Qayyum was given a fairly junior or ad-hoc judge to sit with him on the Bench so that Justice Malik Qayyum’s words could make out the whole judgment.


• All those cases, each having bank records to make a file of 700 to 1500 pages, were finished within three hearings in which, instead of sending a lawyer, a sub-inspector of FIA had appeared from prosecution to say that ‘no witness to offer, my Lord’.


• All the case files were used to be discussed at J Malik Qayyum’s residence a night before where Ehtesab Cell’s Hasan Waseem Afzal used to make out ‘cardinal points’ for the Court.


• All the above mentioned cases were examined, heard, concluded and judgments written between April to September 1997; six months were enough to do that cleansing job.


• Mostly the judgments were spread on 17-18 pages, carrying stereotyped paragraphs with a difference in the texts mostly on the first and the last pages only.


[Not confirmed but an aged advocate of LHC named Ch Yaqoob used to make & type out the judgments for J Qayyum. J Malik Qayyum was otherwise, beyond doubt, competent to dictate judgments but Ch Yaqoob was assigned this job to do in urgency; used to be paid by Hasan Wasim Afzal from Ehtesab Cell’s secret funds.]


Some of those case files remained available with Gen Musharraf’s regime. Those were the files which were sent to the Accountability Courts till mid 1996 to launch trial under due process and Ehtesab Cell could not do much about them. Three of them were used to negotiate and bring Nawaz Sharif to ‘terms’ in the first week of December 2000 when a Brigadier in uniform visited the former PM in the Attock Fort Jail for his ‘escape’ to Saudia. The same files were shown to Nawaz Sharif at the Islamabad Airport on 10th September 2007 to affect his repatriation to Saudia again.


Since ending 2007, the PML(N) has been vowing to bring forward or reopen NRO cases against their PPP counterparts and others trying to make fool of the people of Pakistan conveying that PML(N) leadership has been clean and no case against them exists in the NRO or NAB. It is not the whole truth; not even the half.


PML(N) cronies were able to remove or get lost the case files or to avail favourable judgments from LHC but I still keep copies of most of those cases; not to place them before the media but as my ‘asset’ because I had suffered a lot on that account, personally, financially & morally.


That’s all, my dear countrymen.




Scenario 1


HUMBLE SUBMISSIONS:


In the name of those:


“……unsung heroes who have suffered immeasurably for many years because they preferred right over wrong…….of the scores imprisoned and tortured, coerced and intimidated …… Many chose unemployment and exile rather than to agree with perverted justice.


They paid a heavy price in health, livelihood and reputation and right to happiness ……….but they took a stand for justice which those who had sworn to do so, refused to do.”


Since the first day of schooling, all children of Pakistan are mostly briefed that their homeland was created by Mohammad Ali Jinnah on the basis of two nations - theory and for the propagation of Islam. It was true and remained so during its initial years of existence but study of the later developments proved that this piece of land was separated from the Indian subcontinent for exclusive rule and malicious usage by Generals backed by Judiciary and Jagirdars.


Since the first day of constitutional developments in Pakistan it was being envisaged that the general populace would be subjected to democratic rule but in practice all public institutions are being controlled by army Generals in the name of ‘eradicating political corruption’; civil dictators in the name of ‘democracy’ and bureaucracy mainly consisting of serving or retired army officers, close relatives of first row politicians and Generals.


Since the first day of parliamentary history of Pakistan the federal and provincial assemblies are being used as debating forums only and legislation, got coined by ruling dictator families, is simply floated on the floors to have accents & stamps only.


Since the first day of its independence the Pakistani rulers are continuously betraying the people in the name of Islam; sometimes by introducing Hadood Ordinance (of 1979), sometimes by imposing ‘Shriah’ law, sometimes by announcing that all penal codes would be revised in the light of Islamic injunctions and sometimes by establishing separate courts to hear these such cases. The irony of fate is that not even a single male has been finally convicted under Hadood Ordinance since its promulgation in 1979. [Yes; in a case of Hadd, one poor woman was punished under these laws and her co-accused male partner was set free]


AND the most unfortunate mention is that throughout the history of Pakistan, the higher echelons of judiciary, who were supposed to protect the constitution and democratic institutions always stood up to help the Generals & Jagirdars and upheld their unconstitutional acts. I’ll beg to quote a wishfull thinking:


‘This is not the country I opted for in the Referendum held in my home province of NWFP in 1947 and this is not the country I would like to die in. I badly want a Pakistan to defend, a nation I can belong to, fight for and die for’.


This is what Roedad Khan, a former bureaucrat (remained posted as Federal Secretary Interior, too) has written in his book Pakistan - A DREAM GONE SOUR: [Oxford University Press (1997)]


Roedad Khan recalls the advice of Mr Jinnah to civil officers: ‘to serve a government if it is formed according to the constitution. Public services deteriorated in Pakistan and a stage has now come wherein public servants have been reduced to the ‘level of domestic servants’.


But the governing principle for the Pakistani civil servants for the last two decades has been that ‘if you are not with them [rulers], you are against them’ and the irony of fate is that the same has been going true for judiciary, too.


Hazrat Ali Bin Abu Talib (RAA), the fourth Caliph had told that:


‘if the judicial system goes corrupt somewhere & justice becomes unapproachable for the public, that society is bound to perish’.


In my humble (personal) opinion, the institution of judiciary in Pakistan has already broken down. There are so many occasions to mention, so many stories to be told and so many events to be analyzed that one may need thousands of pages for narration.


If I were in Pakistan, I would have been hanged on the charges of ‘Contempt of Court’ or ‘Scandalizing the Courts’ and thus I could not do this unpleasant job there. But the very basic question arises that in democratic societies whether a judge’s judicial personality and characteristics, judge’s ability to understand law in prevailing cultural or political scenarios; a particular judge’s educational and professional knowledge, his mode of entry and rising to the superior positions or judge’s decision making potential on merits and fearlessness or alleged political sympathy AND the judgments passed by the courts in some particular background of events can be analyzed, commented upon or dissected in writing or discussions in public media openly or not.


To find out answer to these questions, I shall take shelter of an article written in August 1999 (as referred in the website of American Society of International Law) by a world known media lawyer Zahid Ebrahim on the issue of ‘scandalizing the court’. This research was done by him in the backdrop of certain decisions taken by the Supreme Court of Pakistan in cases related to the subject of contempt of court involving some members of the parliament and a provincial assembly. Those wrong doers were members and office bearers of the then ruling party, too.


The laws of contempt are primarily designed to balance the freedom of expression with the judiciary’s quest to maintain its authority and safeguard public order. Broadly speaking, contempt of court falls into three general areas:





• violation of an order of a court,


• interference in the judicial process and


• Criticism of a judge, his judgment, or the institution of the judiciary.


More precisely the academics try to engulf the contemporary law of contempt where it seeks to prohibit the criticism of the judge, his judgment or the institution of the judiciary. One should understand that the law of contempt is a ‘sacred cow’ of the legal world. However, the description of this class of contempt is to be taken subject to one important qualification. That is: Judges and Courts are alike open to criticism, and if reasonable argument and justification is offered against a judicial act as contrary to law or the public good, no court would treat that as contempt of Court. [The Queen v. Gray (1900) 2 QB 36]


The extent of tolerance in implementation of contempt of court law had been cited by the courts in England much earlier. The issue had best been understood by the Queen’s Bench, Appellate Division for England and Wales [Ref: R. v. Metropolitan Police Commissioner, ex parte Blackburn (1968) 2 QB 150] when it refused to hold a member of parliament in contempt for authoring an article in which he vigorously criticized a judgment of the Court of Appeal. The Queen’s Bench ruled that:


‘No criticism of a judgment, whatsoever vigorous, can amount to contempt of court providing it keeps within the limits of courtesy and good faith.’


It may not be out of place to mention here a world famous case of a Kenyan lawyer, Feroze Nawrojee, who was once charged for contempt of and scandalizing the court. The basis was a letter written by him when he got frustrated by an inordinate delay in deciding a motion to stay proceedings in a traffic case in which a prominent critic of the Kenyan Government had been killed. The protest note of Nawrojee carried an expression of anxiety over an inordinate delay in hearing. It is on record that the Kenyan High Court had concluded:


“The courts could not use their contempt power to suppress mere criticism of a judge or to vindicate the judge in his personal capacity, but rather could use it only to punish scurrilous abuse of a judge when necessary in the interests of justice……and a judge must scrupulously balance the need to maintain his or her authority with the right to freedom of speech”


Feroze Nawrojee was absolved of the contempt charges in the above cited case. (Ref: Republic v. Nawrojee, High Court of Kenya, Misc. Crim. App. No. 461 of 1990, unreported, as referred to in the Article IX Freedom of Expression Manual, 1993 p 182)


The law makers and jurists, while defining and protecting the laws on contempt of court, frame the phrases on the assumption that the judiciary is incapable of bowing to outside influences and immune from bias or prejudice. And this is a hard fact that in all societies, including Pakistan, the courts are reluctant to admit that they may be susceptible to political, economic and moral prejudices prevailing in their surrounds.


Moreover, the balance between freedom of expression and maintenance of public confidence in the judiciary has not been settled yet. For example, in the Masroor Ahsan case, the Supreme Court of Pakistan had dismissed a large number of contempt petitions, including one against the Prime Minister who had earlier accused the former Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of reviving ‘horse trading’ in the country by suspending a constitutional amendment and acquitted the alleged contemnors. Although, the contempt actions were dismissed, the Supreme Court of Pakistan had laid down strict rules that:


“…..[it is only] fair comments about the general workings of [the] Court made in good faith, in public interest [and] in temperate language…without impugning the integrity or impartiality of the judge [which] are protected.” (Ref: Masroor Ahsan & Others v. Ardeshir Cowasjee & Others PLD 1998 SC 823)


There is a school of thought who still believes that the verdict in the Masroor Ahsan case was influenced by the political environment of the day and would have constituted contempt under the traditional law. But the others consider it a milestone because, while responding to criticism levelled at the Supreme Court of Pakistan for acquitting the legislators of the ruling party on contempt charges, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court had remarked that:


“ ….. the court was not bothered about criticism till the time it was according to law and in temperate language.” (Ref: The Dawn of 15th June 1999)


Now let us take account of certain facts of recent history of Pakistan. After announcement of 20th March 1996 decision on the subject of appointment of judges by a full court, the then Prime Minister Ms Benazir Bhutto had declared it, on 28th March 1996 in the National Assembly session, as an effort to take away the inherent powers of democratically elected parliament. The next Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif and his companions, on 28th November 1997, practically insulted the judiciary, raided and ransacked the Supreme Court premises thus conveying the message that the superior courts should work under the directions of political bosses.


In the developed world, the media people have succeeded in convincing the judiciary to listen them and read their criticism if based on facts and evidence. In 1997, the European Court had accommodated the columnists and newsmen and tilted themselves in favour of freedom of expression through their decision in a case titled De Haes & Gijsels vs. Belgium. In this case, De Haes and Gijsels had published articles accusing four Belgian judges of bias. They were prosecuted for contempt of courts wherein the European Court ruled that:


“…… although Mr. De Haes & Mr. Gijsels’ comments were without doubt severely critical, they nevertheless appear proportionate to the stir and indignation caused by the matters alleged in their articles. As to the journalists’ polemical and even aggressive tone, which the court should not be taken to approve, it must be remembered that Article 10 protects not only the substance of the ideas or information expressed but also the form in which they are conveyed.” (Ref: De Haes & Gissels vs. Belgium, 25 [1997] EHRR 1)


However, it must be acknowledged that the European Court were also influenced by the fact that De Haes and Gissels had offered to demonstrate the truth of their allegations with the help of the case files, though were denied this opportunity by the Belgian Courts.


In Pakistan, in the arena of recent developments on the subject, there is much room for both judiciary and politics to create better environment for the general public. All the foregone governments, both political and military sponsored, had failed to stick to the expected norms of respects for the judiciary and had used them as their subordinate offices. The regimes in succession had failed to provide autonomy and freedom for the superior courts and had always opted to twist their arms in favour of ruling politicians and army dictators.


The last word: though the offence of ‘scandalizing the court’ continues to be a hot debate all over the globe, but here in England, the last successful prosecution for scandalizing the court had been reported in 1931, as David Pannick maintained in his book ‘Judges’


‘….. (that successful prosecutions tend to) inhibit journalists, who wrongly suspect that they have a legal obligation to speak respectfully and cautiously when discussing the judiciary.” (Ref: David Pannick, Judges, Oxford University Press, 1987)


In the words of the Chief Justice Aziz Ahmadi of India, a citizen cannot be expected to wait for the system to correct itself; he would be expected to take upon himself the task of enforcing the rights granted to him by the constitution.


There is a risk that Pakistan — which typifies what Gunnar Myrdal calls a ‘soft state‘ because it lacks social discipline, it is high on promises and low on delivery — will join those many countries in Africa and soon become one of the failed states. This risk draws closer every day.


As per wording of Shahid Javed Burki uttered from the World Bank desk during the 1990s:


‘’ …….. The country is now left with no viable institutions, including that of the judiciary and …… we are in danger of losing Jinnah’s legacy. Given the impact of change, Pakistan could cease to exist in its sovereign nation-state form. Approaching the twenty-first century, Pakistanis may at last find their elusive commonwealth, only it may not be the one envisaged by the nation’s creators.”


It is time for our politicians, bureaucrats, academic scholars, army Generals and intellectuals to rise to the occasion and ensure that forecasts of pseudo-historians do not come true.


In the light of the whole discussion, I feel strength to write more details in the following pages while repeating the words of Roedad Khan again:


‘The lesson is that when dykes of law and justice break, revolutions begin’. We may not be far off from that position.




Scenario 2


JUDICIARY IN 1954-73:


Draconian use of ‘Doctrine of Necessity:


On 25th July 2003, two civil judges and a magistrate were killed by prisoners of the Sialkot District Jail while they were on an official visit to the jail premises accompanying a heavy contingent of the local police.


Why did they have to kill the judges?


Dr Farrukh Saleem, an Islamabad based analyst, rightly pointed out that ‘…. It is important for the judiciary to peer into history for answers.’


Here are some dates and events describing the judicial history of Pakistan; one can find out if the events are inter-connected and if some stuff is also available in between the lines.


On 21st September 1954, the Constituent Assembly amended the Government of India Act. The amendments precluded the Governor General from acting except on the advice of his ministers. All ministers were to be members of the Assembly at the time of their selection and continue to hold office only so long as they retained the confidence of the legislature.


Justice Munir, in Molvi Tamizuddin Khan’s case, declared that the Assembly was not a sovereign body. He gave ruling that the Constitutional Assembly had ‘lived in a fool’s paradise if it was ever seized with the notion that it was the sovereign body of the state.’ The historians keep the opinion that when Justice Munir denied the existence of the Assembly’s sovereignty, he, in fact, had destroyed Pakistan’s constitutional basis. He did further harm when he did not indicate where sovereignty resided.


Through Special Reference No.1 of 1955, the then Governor General Ghulam Mohammad asked the Federal Court for an advisory ruling regarding his powers. Justice Munir, relying on Bracton’s maxim ‘that which is otherwise not lawful is made lawful by necessity’, and on the Roman law maxim urged by Jennings, ‘the well-being of the people is the supreme law’ declared that:


‘Subject to the condition of absoluteness, extremeness, and imminence, an act which would otherwise be illegal becomes legal if it is done bona fide under stress of necessity, the necessity being referable to an intention to preserve the Constitution, the state, or the society, and to prevent it from dissolution, and affirms……. that necessity knows no law… …….necessity makes lawful which otherwise is not lawful’. (Ref: PLD 1955 FC240)


Thus, because the Constituent Assembly was denied a judicial remedy, the Governor General’s position seized the ultimate power of the state. It also followed from the court’s decision on sovereignty that the Assembly could be dissolved by the Governor General for political purposes.


21st March 1955: Chief Justice Muhammad Munir of the Federal Court (the present Supreme Court) legalized the dissolution of the 1st Constituent Assembly. Justice A.R. Cornelius (a non-Muslim) of the Federal Court dissented. Cornelius opined that the Constituent Assembly was ‘sovereign’, the governor-general’s dissolution was illegal and that ‘Pakistan owed no duty to the Crown.’


31st March 1955: Despite objections from powerful political elements, the Governor General of Pakistan intended to have the constituent convention pass the constitution, as already drafted by the then central cabinet ‘Constitution through Ordinance’.


16th May 1955: On 24th October 1954 the Governor-General of Pakistan, Ghulam Mohammad (GM), dissolved the Constituent Assembly and appointed a new Council of Ministers on the grounds that the said Assembly no longer represented the people of Pakistan. The fact was that the draft of the constitution was ready to be announced on 25th December 1954, but the governor general dismissed that assembly on 24th October 1954, to avoid the curtailment of his powers of dismissing the government of the elected prime-minister. Mr GM had more objections to the constitution which the Assembly was about to adopt.


The President of the Constituent Assembly, Maulvi Tamizuddin, appealed to the Chief Court of Sind at Karachi to restrain the new Council of Ministers from implementing the dissolution and to determine the validity of the appointment of the new Council under Section 223-A of the constitution. [In those days, Pakistan comprised of two parts, West Pakistan & East Pakistan (Bagladesh after 1971) and Karachi was the capital of Pakistan. M Tamizuddin was from East Pakistan] (PLD 1955 Sindh 96)


In response, members of the new Council of Ministers appealed to the court saying that it had no jurisdiction to deal with the dissolution of the Assembly and appointments of the ministers. They argued that Section 223-A of the constitution had never been validly enacted into the Constitution because it was never approved by the Governor-General, and therefore anything submitted under it was invalid. The Sindh Chief Court ruled in favour of Maulvi Tamizuddin and held that the Governor General’s approval was not needed when the Constituent Assembly was acting only as a Constituent Assembly and not as the Federal Legislature. The Federation of Pakistan and the new Council of Ministers then appealed to the Supreme Court, the appeal was heard in March 1955. (Reference: Federation of Pakistan v Maulvi Tamizuddin Khan)


In the appeal hearing under Chief Justice Muhammad Munir, the court decided that the Constituent Assembly functioned as the ‘Legislature of the Domain’ and that the Governor-General’s assent was necessary for all legislation to become law. Therefore, the Sindh Chief Court had no jurisdiction to overturn the Governor General’s dissolution and Mr Ghulam Mohammad’s step was held as valid.


However, the ground of which the court found in favour of the Federation of Pakistan called into question the validity of all legislation passed by the Assembly, not to mention the unconstitutionality of the Assembly itself since 1950. To solve this problem, the Governor-General had to invoke Emergency Powers to retrospectively validate the Acts of the Constituent Assembly. An appeal was filed against the Governor-General for invoking emergency powers and the then Chief Justice of Pakistan had to determine the constitutionality of invoking the Emergency Powers.


The Court held that in this case the Governor-General could not invoke emergency powers because in doing so he validated certain laws that had been invalid because he had not assented to them previously. Justice Munir also ruled that constitutional legislation could not be validated by the Governor General but had to be approved by the Legislature. Lack of the Constituent Assembly did not transfer the Legislature’s powers to the Governor-General.


The Federal Court of Pakistan gave ruling that:


• The Governor General in certain circumstances had the power to dissolve the Constituent Assembly.


• The Governor-General had during the interim period the power ‘under the common law of civil or state necessity’ of retrospectively validating the laws listed in the Schedule to the Emergency Powers ordinance.


• The new Assembly (formed under the Constituent Convention Order 1955) would be valid and able to exercise all powers under the Indian Independence Act 1947.


In his verdict, CJP Ch Munir declared it was necessary to go beyond the constitution to what he claimed was the Common Law, to general legal maxims, and to English historical precedent. He relied on Bracton’s maxim, ‘that which is otherwise not lawful is made lawful by necessity’, and the Roman law maxim urged by Jennings, ‘the well-being of the people is the supreme law.’


Justice Sajjad Ali Shah in his essay titled ‘Blessings of Judicial Activism’ published in DAWN on 26th September 2006 has explained the above facts with references given below:


[In consequence of judgment of the Federal Court, 35 constitutional acts and many decisions under writ jurisdiction became invalid for want of assent of the Governor General. There was total confusion and chaos: the Governor-General issued an ordinance with retrospective effect to rectify the mistake. The Federal Court held in Usif Patel’s case (PLD 1955 FC 387) that the Governor-General was not empowered to issue an ordinance for constitutional matters in the absence of the constituent assembly whatsoever.]


The Governor-General then made special reference to the Federal Court for guidance (PLD 1955 FC 435). The Federal Court allowed retrospective validation of invalid acts to be approved by a new constituent assembly directed to be elected. This judgment gave rise to the doctrine of state necessity, which is also called the law of necessity, later used by the courts to justify martial laws and the dismissal of constitutions.]


23rd March 1956: First Constitution of Pakistan declared. Major General Iskandar Mirza changed his portfolio from Governor General to the President of Pakistan.


28th October 1958: Chief Justice Muhammad Munir called Iskander Mirza’s dissolution of the 2nd Constituent Assembly & abrogation of 1956’s Constitution, a ‘legalized illegality’ meaning thereby that a victorious revolution and a successful coup d’etat is an internally recognized legal method of changing a constitutional government.


When Isikandar Mirza dissolved the parliament in 1958 and announced martial law, Justice Munir and the Supreme Court were readily available to place a judicial stamp of approval on what had taken place. Justice Munir had given the verdict that:


‘It sometimes happens, however, that the Constitution and the national legal order under it is disrupted by an abrupt political change not within the contemplation of the constitution. Any such change is called a revolution, and its legal effect is not only the destruction of the existing constitution but also the validity of the national legal order … ….For the purpose of the doctrine here explained, a change is, in law, a revolution if it annuls the constitution and the annulment is effective…Thus the essential condition to determine whether a constitution has been annulled is the efficacy of the change…Thus a victorious revolution, or a successful coup d’etat is an internally recognized legal method of changing a constitution.


…If what I have already stated is correct, then the revolution having been successful, it satisfies the test of efficacy and becomes a basic law-creating factor’.


The above extract has been taken from the decision announced by the Chief Justice of the Federal Court in the case titled State v. Dosso (PLD 1958 SC 533). The constitutional petition was filed in the backdrop of proclamation of martial law issued by President Iskandar Mirza in the first week of October 1958, wherein:


• The Constitution of 23 March 1956 was abrogated.


• The Central and Provincial governments were dismissed.


• The Parliament and Provincial Assemblies were dissolved.


• All political parties were abolished.


• Until alternative arrangements were made, Pakistan remained under martial law’s flag.


Gen Ayub Khan, Commander-in-Chief of Pakistan Army was accordingly appointed as the Chief Martial Law Administrator and all the armed forces of Pakistan placed under his command. Explaining the reasons for these steps the President, interalia, had observed:


‘The constitution which was brought into being on 23 March 1956, after so many tribulations, is unworkable. It is full of dangerous compromises, that Pakistan will soon disintegrate internally if the inherent malaise is not removed. To rectify them, the country must first be taken to sanity by a peaceful revolution.’


The learned Chief Justice went on to observe that if a revolution succeeds, it is a legalised illegality. The revolution itself becomes a law creating fact because thereafter its own legality is judged not by reference to the annulled constitution but by reference to its own success. For this view, reliance was placed on the writings of Hans Kelsen contained in his book General Theory of Law and State. The court held that the 1958 revolution satisfied the test of efficacy and had thus become a basic law creating fact. It was accordingly found that the Laws (Continuance in Force) Order 1958, however transitory or imperfect it might be, was a new legal order and had destroyed the old legal order, with the result that the validity of the laws and correctness of judicial decisions were to be determined with reference to that order and not the earlier legal order.


In nut shell Justice Munir’s decision in Dosso case set the constitutional stage for Ayub Khan, the then Commander in Chief of the Pakistan Army, to take over the government from Iskandar Mirza. It would be remembered in the history that Gen Ayub Khan’s take over (on 27th October 1958) took place just next day the Court’s decision was announced.


[Upon retirement, Justice Munir had accepted a government job in Tokyo and then formally accepted a cabinet position under Gen Ayub Khan’s government. The Governor General Iskandar Mirza was sent into exile, to UK.]


14th April 1972: Interim Constitution of Pakistan was passed by the National Assembly and Martial Law was lifted.


[It may be remembered that the army had gone angry with Mr Bhutto till then because, when he became Martial Law Administrator, then President and then the Prime Minister, he had sent 22 serving Generals home. It was natural that 22 top families, their next generation in army, their relatives and associates all went upset and the PPP continuously suffered a lot since then.]


7th & 20th April 1972: The Supreme Court of Pakistan declared Yahya Khan’s martial law to be illegal. The decision was announced four months after the departure of that army ruler.


Gen Yahya Khan was also a Commander in Chief of the Pakistan Army who imposed Martial Law in March 1969, after receiving a written letter from Gen Ayub Khan, the then President of Pakistan ‘to do your duty to run the country’. He performed his duty by promulgating another martial law next day.


Gen Ayub Khan himself had violated his own constitution by handing over power to the Commander-in-Chief of the army, Gen Yahya Khan, instead of the National Assembly Speaker as was provided for the transfer of power in the constitution. Gen Yahya Khan abrogated the 1962 constitution of Ayub Khan and introduced the “Legal Framework Order” containing the rules relating to the holding of general elections and framing of the future constitution for Pakistani people.


Gen Yahya’s rule ended on 20th December 1971 with the fall of Dacca.


In this case, commonly known as Asma Jilani Case (PLD 1972 SC 139), on behalf of the military government, the law of necessity was pleaded but the Supreme Court rejected the plea and held that the commander of the armed forces was bound by oath to defend the constitution and had no power to dismiss the same as the constitution was the fundamental law of the country. This judgment was very bold with full manifestation of judicial activism as the doctrine of necessity was rejected; the doors of army rule were shut.


This was the judgment after which, when writing the new Constitution of 1973 an Article 6 was inserted in it to prevent the army from dismissing the Constitution and imposing martial law (but subsequent history of 1977 and 1999 proved that all this went in vain).


In Asma Jilani vs The Government of Punjab and others, on 7th April 1972, the Supreme Court of Pakistan declared that Gen Yahya Khan had usurped power that his action was not justified by the revolutionary legality doctrine and consequently his martial law was illegal. The court, after its detailed reasoning, came to the conclusion that:


‘With the utmost respect, therefore, I would agree with the criticism that the learned Chief Justice Mohammad Munir not only misapplied the doctrine of Hans Kelsen, but also fell into error that it was a generally accepted doctrine of modern jurisprudence. Even the disciples of Kelsen have hesitated to go far as Kelsen had gone…I am unable to resist the conclusion that Mohammad Munir erred both in interpreting Kelsen’s theory and applying the same to the facts and circumstances of the case before him. The principle enunciated by him is wholly unsustainable.’ (Ref: PLD 1972 SC 139)


Justice Yaqub Ali Khan concluded that the judgment in Tamizuddin Khan’s case of 1955 and Dosso’s case of 1958 had made ‘a perfectly good country into a laughing stock, and converted the country into autocracy and eventually …into military dictatorship’. He pointedly criticized the abrogation of the 1956 constitution, observing that ‘Iskandar Mirza and Ayub Khan committed treason, and destroyed the basis of representation between the two wings.’


The decision was though bold but it cannot be forgotten that the Court declared Yahya Khan a usurper only after he had ceased to hold office while the other usurpers were dead.


Similarly once more, the SC tried to put up a brave face in the Haji Saifullah case by declaring Gen. Zia’s dissolution of the National Assembly invalid; but, again, this was done only after the dictator’s death making his son, Ejaz ul Haq, publicly boast in a moment of truth that had his father been alive the judgment could not have been delivered. (Ref: South Asia Tribune; 7-13 September 2003, Issue 58)


It may not be out of place to mention that constitutional package for 1973’s constitution was drafted in the light of this judgment of the Supreme Court of Pakistan, which had opined in Asma Jilani case: ‘As soon as the first opportunity arises, when the coercive apparatus falls from the hands of the usurper, he should be tried for high treason and suitably punished. This alone will serve as a deterrent to the adventurers’.


Asma Jilani case indeed was the basis for the framers of the 1973 Constitution drafting not only the Article 6 dealing with high treason but also making a specific exception to the constitutional principle of non-retro-spectives of offences and punishments in the case of such high treason and desecration of the constitution. Acutely aware of the potential for mischief of Pakistan Army and its corrupt political partisans, such as those who eventually would endorse the 8th and 17th Amendments, the framers went on to include the Article 12(2) stating that any such offence would not fall under the Protection against Retroactive Punishment or indemnity granted by the parliament via Article 270. Article 12(2) states:


‘Nothing in clause (I) or in Article 270 shall apply to any law making acts of abrogation or subversion of a Constitution in force in Pakistan at any time since the twenty third day of March one thousand nine hundred and fifty six, an offence.’


The academics noted that the ruling in Dosso’s case, famous Justice Mohammad Munir’s judgment (that where a constitution and the national legal order under it is disrupted by an abrupt political change not within the contemplation of the constitution, such a change is called a revolution and its legal effect is not only the destruction of the existing constitution but also of the validity of the national legal order, irrespective of how and by whom such a change is brought about) was held not to be good law. Gen Yahya Khan was held to be an usurper and all the actions taken by him were found to be illegal and illegitimate. In order to avoid the disastrous consequences of declaring all acts done during his rule, whether legislative or otherwise, to be of no legal effect; it was, however, held that those which were in the wider public interest could be skipped on the principle of condonation, notwithstanding their illegality or varied interpretations whatsoever.


10th April 1973: Pakistan got another constitution, still in vogue, if and when our civil & military dictators allow showing its twisted and distorted face; widely used as reference in media papers and courts but never respected by spirit.




Scenario 3


JUDICIARY IN 1977


Nusrat Bhutto Case:


It may be recalled that in 1976 Z A Bhutto announced general elections in the country and after the polls were held in early 1977 an agitation started alleging that the election had been rigged. There were large-scale demonstrations, law & order became worse and there was arson, loot and plunder. The parleys and negotiations between the ruling party and opposition failed although an understanding had been reached. At that juncture, Mr Bhutto introduced as Article 96-A in the Constitution to provide for a referendum for a vote of confidence for him. Under this provision it was said that:


‘If at any time the Prime Minister considers it necessary to obtain a vote of confidence of the people of Pakistan through a referendum, he may advise the President to cause the matter to be referred to a referendum in accordance with law made by the Parliament of Pakistan in vogue whatsoever.’


The only disturbing element in this new article was that:


‘Any dispute arising in connection with the counting of votes at a referendum shall be finally determined by the Referendum Commission or a member thereof authorized by it and no dispute arising in connection with referendum or the result thereof shall be raised or permitted to be raised before any Court or other authority whatsoever.’


In nut shell, the courts and their existence were negated altogether. No objection, no cry and no petition for its revision came up.


However, no referendum could take place because of the volatile situation in the country and this provision being time-specific ceased to be part of the Constitution in September 1977. Nevertheless, on presumption that there was no concluded agreement between the government and opposition parties, Gen Ziaul Haq, the then Chief of Army Staff, on 5th July 1977 imposed Martial Law and held the 1973 Constitution in abeyance.


[On 5th July 1977, Gen Ziaul Haq pronounced martial law. Sajjad Ali Shah (afterwards elevated as Chief Justice of Pakistan) was the Registrar Supreme Court. He immediately rang up the Chief Justice, Yaqoob Ali Khan and told him that after martial law, Mr Bhutto and his cabinet members had been arrested. The CJP replied that the Law Ministry and the Establishment Division had already told him and that Gen Ziaul Haq was coming to see him as the Chief Martial Law Administrator at 11 AM. The CJP had also briefed him about the arrangements to be done. Gen Ziaul Haq came at 11 AM; the Registrar received and escorted him to the CJP’s chambers. The Registrar Mr Sajjad Ali Shah left the two heads there and doors closed.


Soon after the then Federal Secretary Law, Abdul Haye Qureshi was called there. All the accompanying Generals were oozing outside after a hectic night. Two main things were decided between the two;


• Firstly: that in the communiqué for the nation, in respect of the Constitution neither the word ‘abrogated’ would be used nor ‘suspended’, it would be said as ‘held in abeyance’.


• Secondly: All the Chief Justices of the High Courts were made governors of the respective provinces. (After two years they were given confirmations if needed and promotions too.)


All it was a very calculated move to win the higher judiciary in favour of military rule that was why the decision of Nusrat Bhutto case was as Gen Ziaul Haq wanted.


19th September 1977: Chief Justice of Pakistan Yaquab Ali Khan admitted Begum Nusrat Bhutto’s petition challenging the constitutionality of Zulfikar A Bhutto’s detention. Bhutto was removed from the government and was arrested on 5th July 1977 as sitting Prime Minister. That day after promulgation of the Martial Law, Gen Ziaul Haq had suspended all democratic institutions.


22nd September 1977: Yaqub Ali Khan, the Chief Justice of Pakistan, was forced to retire because he had dared to accept Begum Nusrat Bhutto’s petition for hearing.


The interesting fact was that the CJP Yaqoob Ali Khan, while accepting Nusrat Bhutto’s petition, wrote an order on that ‘the political prisoner Mr Bhutto should also be produced before the court’. When Gen Ziaul Haq was told of such instructions of the Supreme Court, he immediately ordered to suspend whole of the superior judiciary and to bring Generals and Brigadiers instead to act as ‘senior military courts’. Governor Punjab Justice Aslam Riaz Hussain immediately approached Gen Ziaul Haq and asked audience for few minutes. When Justice Aslam met the CMLA, the schemers of the said proposal; A K Brohi, Sharifuddin Pirzada and Gen K M Arif were also present. Justice Aslam dared to advise the CMLA to refrain from that act in the wake of possible revolt by the lawyer’s community countrywide.


Gen Ziaul Haq thought for a while but how to deal with CJ Yaqoob Ali Khan’s orders. A mid-way was worked out that the government should file a review petition on the grounds that ‘by causing Mr Bhutto’s presence in the Supreme Court, there is an apprehension of law & order situation associated with security risk.’ It was agreed. Review petition was got prepared and placed before the apex court next day.


The review petition was admitted, the apparent problem solved but the same evening it was, however, decided to replace the Chief justice of Pakistan Yaqoob Ali Khan also.


23rd September 1977: Sheikh Anwar-ul-Haq, an officer of Administrative Cadre, a person who lacked adequate judicial training, was appointed the Chief Justice of Pakistan.


[Quoting ‘Judicial Murder of a Prime Minister‘ written by Tariq Aqil and appearing on 7th December 2004 at www.Chowk.com, it is a historical fact that the new Chief Justice took his oath of office along with other Supreme Court judges, Omitting the paragraph in the oath laid down in 1973 constitution whereby the supreme court judges swear to “preserve, protect and defend the constitution”. By this contrived deliberate manner the judges ceased to function as constitutional judges and were absolved from faith with the oath they had sworn earlier.]


10th November 1977: The imposition of the third Martial Law was challenged in Nusrat Bhutto’s case (PLD 1977 SC 657) wherein, using fulcrum of ‘ground realities and the objective conditions’, the Supreme Court had declared the imposition of Martial Law as valid on the doctrine of State necessity, but the Court observed that the power of judicial review was available to it to examine the legality or otherwise of the actions of the government and particularly the Court would also see whether the necessity continued to exist or not.


Notwithstanding the above quoted judgment, a Provisional Constitution Order of 1981 was promulgated by Gen Ziaul Haq ousting the power and jurisdiction of the Superior Courts to judicially review actions of the Martial Law regime. In nut shell, the Supreme Court of Pakistan in Begum Nusrat Bhutto case, unanimously validated imposition of martial law under the ‘doctrine of necessity’.


In its judgment dismissing Begum Nusrat Bhutto’s petition challenging detention of former Prime Minister Z A Bhutto and 10 others, the nine-member court headed by Chief Justice Anwar ul Haq remarked that:


‘……. after massive rigging of elections followed by complete breakdown of law and order situation, bringing the country on the brink of disaster, the imposition of martial law had become inevitable……… the court [Supreme Court of Pakistan] would like to state in clear terms that it had found it possible to validate the extra constitutional action of the Chief Martial Law Administrator (CMLA) not only for the reason that he stepped in to save the country at a time of grave national crisis and constitutional breakdown, but also because of the solemn pledge given by him that the period of constitutional deviation shall be as short as possible.’


‘It is true that owing to the necessity of completing the process of accountability of holders of public offices, the holding of elections had to be postponed for the time being but the declared intention of the Chief Martial Law Administrator still remains the same namely, that he has stepped in for a temporary period and for the limited purpose of arranging free and fair elections so as to enable the country to return to a democratic way of life.


In the presence of these unambiguous declarations, it would be highly unfair and uncharitable to attribute any other intention to the Chief Martial Law Administrator, and to insinuate that he has not assumed power for the purposes stated by him, or that he does not intend to restore democratic situations in terms of the 1973 constitution’. (Ref: PLD 1977 SC 673-674)


It may not be out of place to mention that before making formal announcement of the decision, the CJP Anwarul Haq had sent his draft to Gen Zia ul Haq Chief Martial Law Administrator for prior approval. On seeing the said draft, Gen Ziaul Haq immediately got furious and returned it with remarks that:


‘…….In the decision why the Chief Justice had not given him the authority to make changes in the Constitution. The said Chief Justice got his office of the Supreme Court opened in the same evening, made the desired changes in the draft and had immediately sent to Gen Ziaul Haq again for approval. That decision was read over next day and Mr Z A Bhutto was hanged on the basis of the same decision. (Column by Dr Safdar Mahmood: Daily Jang London dated 5th July 2007)


In an article captioned as ‘Tale of a vitiated trial’ written by Fakhar Zaman, sent to all media websites on 4th April 2000, it was opined that:


‘The real culprit responsible for impairing the image of the judiciary was General Ziaul Haq, Chief Martial Law Administrator, assisted by the two Chief Justices, Molvi Mushtaq Hussain and Anwar-ul-Haq, who lent him their noble judicial positions in bringing the conspiracy against the Prime Minister to fruition.


These were the two judges who also lent legality to the imposition of martial law and prepared the ground for amendment of the Constitution itself to help achieve the evil designs to the dictator. It was with the blessings of these two that Zulfikar Ali Bhutto was removed from the scene and a usurper was able to rule the country for eleven long years and, in process, destroyed many of its valuable institutions.’


The Supreme Court had also held that the facts in Begum Nusrat Bhutto’s case were distinguishable as the Constitution had not been dismissed but only suspended and the intention was to restore it. What an assessment and what was the foresightedness.


Going into more details, the said decision from the Supreme Court of Pakistan titled Begum Nusrat Bhutto V. The Chief of the Army Staff and Another (PLD 1977 SC 657 & 1977 (3) PSCR 1) was announced on a petition by Begum Nusrat Bhutto, under Article 184 (3) of the 1973 Constitution of Pakistan, sought to challenge the detention of Mr. Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, former Prime Minister of Pakistan, and the other leaders of the Pakistan People’s Party under Martial Law Order no. 12 of 1977 contending that the Chief of the Army Staff had no authority under the 1973 Constitution to impose martial law in the country. It was also contended that his intervention amounted to an act of treason in terms of Article 6 of the Constitution; that as a consequence the proclamation of martial law dated 5th July 1977 and other actions of arrest and detention were all without lawful authority.


This petition was heard by a bench of nine judges of the Supreme Court consisting of S. Anwar-ul-Haq, Chief Justice, Wahiduddin Ahmad, Muhammad Afzal Cheema, Malik Muhammad Akram, Dorab Patel, Qaisar Khan, Muhammad Haleem, G. Safdar Shah and Nasim Hasan Shah.


The leading judgment was written by S. Anwar-ul-Haq, Chief Justice. His opinion was also agreed with by Justice Nasim Hasan Shah, who had stressed in a separate note that ‘….when the political leaders failed to steer the country out of a crisis, it is an inexcusable sin for the armed forces to sit as silent spectators. It is primarily, for this reason that the army, perforce had to intervene to save the country.’


On the issue of validity of Proclamation of Martial Law on 5th July 1977, it was held that:


‘In these circumstances neither the ratio decidendi of Dosso v. State nor that of Asma Jilani v. the Punjab Government is strictly applicable to the present case. The question next arises whether the above intervention was a step which could lawfully be taken? So far as this point is concerned, it is an admitted position that there is no provision in the constitution authorizing the army commander, even in the event of the break-down of the constitutional machinery, to intervene in the manner that he did.


But Mr. Sharif-ud-Din Pirzada, the Attorney-General of Pakistan, submitted before us that since the country cannot be allowed to perish for the sake of the constitution, the intervention was justified on the doctrine of state necessity, while Mr Brohi contended that as the old legal order had been effectively replaced by a new legal order [leaving no vacuum], henceforth all questions of legality were answerable with reference to it.’


The speech of Gen Ziaul Haq was repeatedly read in the apex Court that:


‘…. I was obliged to step in to fill in the vacuum created by the political leaders. I have accepted this challenge as a true soldier of Islam. My sole aim is to organize free and fair elections which would be held in October (1977) this year. Soon after the polls, power will be transferred to the elected representatives of the people….;


These words were included in the decision and the whole judgment was based on the sincerity and sacredness of this phrase.


[That was why Justice Nasim H Shah had to opine that in view of the break-down of the normal constitutional machinery and to fill the vacuum, the armed forces were obliged to take an extra- constitutional step. Martial law was imposed, in the picturesque words used in the written statement filed by Mr. Brohi, not “in order to disable the constitutional authority, but in order to provide a bridge to enable the country to return to the path of constitutional rule”.]


The Judgment said that ‘the question whether the conditions prevailing in Pakistan necessitated the above step (of imposing Martial Law) has to be answered by reference to the happenings from 7th March 1977 up to 5th July 1977 which reveal that the constitutional and moral authority of the National Assembly which had come into being as a result of the elections held on 7th March 1977, as well as the Federal and Provincial governments formed thereafter had been continuously and forcefully repudiated throughout the country over a prolonged period of nearly four months. With the result that the national life stood disrupted.


A situation had arisen for which the constitution provided no solution. The atmosphere was surcharged with the possibility of further violence, confusion and chaos. As the constitution itself could not measure up to the situation, the doctrine of state necessity became applicable for where the safety of the state and the welfare of the people are in imminent danger. Necessity justifies a departure from the ordinary principles of law. In these circumstances the step taken by the armed forces in imposing martial law stands validated, on the principle of state necessity, as urged by the learned Attorney General (Mr Sharifuddin Pirzada)’.


All the nine judges had unanimously declared that the petition challenging the army coup was liable to be dismissed.


J Malik Qayyum, in an interview published in daily the ‘Jang’ dated 5th February 2006, however, had pointed out that:


‘The Supreme Court should have given 90 days period to Gen Ziaul Haq to go for general elections. [Gen Zia had originally announced such elections within 90 days; dates were also announced but then postponed for indefinite period in the name of Islamic rule.] Through this judgment a military coup was accepted as legal which was wrong. Though my father J Malik Akram was one of the judges on that bench of the SC but I, being a student of law, dare to differ with that opinion and the said judgment.’


In nut shell; the Supreme Court had observed that ‘the declared objectives of the imposition of Martial Law are to create conditions suitable for holding free and fair elections in terms of the 1973 constitution, which was not being abrogated, and only certain parts of which were being held in abeyance, namely, the parts dealing with the federal and provincial executives and legislatures.’


The President of Pakistan was to continue to discharge his duties as heretofore under the same constitution. Soon after the polls, the power was to be transferred to the elected representatives of the people but, in the name of accountability of some politicians; elections were postponed.


Accountability of that military ruler, Gen Ziaul Haq, did not end till his plane was blown up in air on 17th August 1988. The dead body was not available from the crime scene. Some days later, certain Afghan Mujahideen offered his ‘Janaza’ prayer at the side space of Faisal Mosque Islamabad and soon after Nawaz Sharif got built his tomb there.


Still the people believe that in that tomb only the fractured eye-glasses of Gen Ziaul Haq are buried, not any part of his body, because nothing could be found from the crash scene.




Scenario 4


JUDICIARY IN 1978:


Bhutto Hanged by biased Judges:


Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, during his tenure of premiership in 1970s had promoted one junior judge named Aslam Riaz Hussain J. who happened to be a close friend of the then Attorney General Yahya Bakhtiar (and known to be not a bright judge) while superseding seven judges, including one J Mushtaq Hussain (Known as Maulvi), to the rank of the Chief Justice of the Lahore High Court (LHC).


During the military rule of Gen Ziaul Haq, Justice Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain, was elevated to the slot of the Chief Justice. The fact is still available on record of the Ministry of Law that J Maulvi Mushtaq had then opted for proceeding to Switzerland on two years leave after he was superseded, but returned immediately after Gen Ziaul Haq had imposed martial law in July 1977.


On 11th November 1974, an FIR was lodged at the Ichhra police station Lahore after the assassination of Nawab Mohammad Ahmed Khan Kasuri implicating former prime minister Zulfikar Ali Bhutto for conspiracy to murder his political opponent Ahmad Raza Kasuri, under Sections 120-B, 302, 109, 301 and 307 of the Pakistan Penal Code.


Ahmad Raza Kasuri MNA, son of the deceased, claimed in the FIR that he was the actual target. Ichhra police station had consigned the investigation against Mr Bhutto to record room in 1975, but again started investigations in 1977 when Gen Ziaul Haq ordered to re-open the said case after having detailed meetings with J Maulvi Mushtaq. It was sufficient to have an idea of Gen Ziaul Haq’s cunningness against the PM Zulfikar Ali Bhutto because it is a normal police practice that investigations are always consigned to record when no further evidence is available.


On 3rd September 1977, the deposed PM Mr Bhutto was arrested, but much surprising for the General, ten days later he was granted bail by Justice K M A Samdani of the Lahore High Court, as the case did not hold any legal ground. The same day on 13th September Bhutto was released from jail; however, within three days his bail was cancelled.


On 16th September midnight, army commandos ‘climbed like black cats over the walls of Al-Murtaza, knocking out all the guards before they could raise a cry, hammering their rifle butts at the front door till almost flew off its heavy hinges.’ This time he was arrested and hand-cuffed, for never to be released again, and despatched to Sukkur Jail straightaway.


The then Punjab government had also set up Justice Shafiur Rehman Commission on the complaint of Ahmed Raza Kasuri to un-earth real facts of Bhutto case but a report had not been made public.


When question of Z A Bhutto’s trial surfaced, CJ LHC Maulvi Mushtaq managed to get skipped the stage of trial at Session Court level on the pretext of ‘importance of the case as a former PM was being brought in the dock’. It was otherwise mandatory by law that every murder case should have been tried by a District & Session Judge so that the respective high court could be moved by the aggrieved party for exercising appellant jurisdiction.


Z A Bhutto’s was perhaps the only case in the history of Pakistan where the Lahore HC had acted in a murder case by degrading itself to the level of original jurisdiction. It was purposefully done because J Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain, who headed the bench which handed down the controversial death sentence at the end to Mr Bhutto, had harboured bias against the former prime minister.


A few lines from ‘Daughter of the East’ by (late) Benazir Bhutto would give us the deep insight:


“The case against my father rested primarily on the confession of Masood Mahmood, the Director General of the Federal Security Force. Masood Mahmood was one of the public servants who were arrested soon after the coup and who we had been told was tortured to give false evidence against my father.


After almost two months of detention by the military, Masood Mahmood had decided to become an ‘approver’, a witness who claims to be an accomplice in a crime and is pardoned on the promise that he will tell the ‘truth’ about the other participants.


(Then) Masood Mahmood was claiming that my father ordered him to murder the politician Kasuri… There were no eye-witnesses to the attack. So much so that the FSF guns, which the ‘confessing accused’ claimed to have used in the murder attempt did not match the empty cartridges found at the scene.


The witnesses were briefed on what they should say and favourable answers were deliberately whittled down. At the end of the trial, not one of the objections raised or the contradictions in the evidence pointed out by the defence consuls and which appeared in 706 pages of testimony [for Mr Bhutto’s defence]”.


General Arif had recorded the fact that it was Gen Ziaul Haq himself who came to the prosecution’s help by granting pardon to the approver Masood Mahmud. Similar promises were reportedly made to the three other FSF officials also but they were hanged. As expected, J Maulvi Mushtaq and his full bench found Zulfikar Ali Bhutto guilty of murder and sentenced him to death on 18th March 1978.


A veteran western writer Stanley Wolpert writes in his celebrated book titled ‘Zulfi Bhutto of Pakistan’ that:


“Expecting a fair trial from a person like Maulvi Mushtaq was very much unlikely. The whole nation witnessed in disgust how the judicial process was blatantly transgressed and the principles of justice and impartiality were trampled upon. The Acting Chief Justice Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain never so much as attempted to suppress or hide his personal animus. It never occurred to him that he should refuse himself from the trial [against Zulfi Bhutto].”


Barrister Aitzaz Ahsan, who was witness to the entire court proceedings in the Bhutto case, also held that the trial was very hostile. At one stage the hostility and hatred of J Maulvi Mushtaq went to such a high pitch that Mr Bhutto had inadvertently used guarded language against him. But Bhutto was sentimentally aroused to reflect his mind in that manner because the whole bench was biased and hurling hatred and sarcastic remarks at their former prime minister.


The judges on bench who found him guilty, especially J Mushtaq Hussain, were clearly motivated against Bhutto. The question of bias raised by Bhutto was the single most important aspect of the case which, if addressed honestly, could have changed the course of history.


Against J Mushtaq Hussain, Bhutto’s stance was supported by several facts. A division bench of the LHC consisting of Justice K M A Samdani and Justice Mazharul Haq was already enquiring into a private complaint of Ahmed Raza Kasuri, whose father was killed. While the enquiry was going on, an incomplete challan was submitted in magistrate’s court which was immediately forwarded to the respective District & Sessions Judge of Lahore.


Later on, J Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain transferred the case from the Court of Sessions to LHC the same day when Bhutto was re-arrested on 16th September 1977. Again, on the same day, the Chief Justice constituted a special bench of five judges presided over by himself, though a complete challan was not submitted till then and yet the trial was fixed for 24th September 1977.


In the statement submitted before the Supreme Court during the hearing of his appeal, Z A Bhutto had stated:


“It is indeed a mockery for this regime to pontificate on the independent character of the Chief Election Commissioner when it has brazenly merged the office of the Chief Election Commissioner and the Chief Justice of the Lahore High Court, under the control of the man who is known to be after my blood.


There has been an encounter with J Mushtaq Hussain earlier; when he was pleased to hear my detention petition virtually ‘in camera’ inside the prison walls of Lahore Camp Jail. This was in January 1969. However, it was not he who released me from detention, but the government, which withdrew the detention order.


Once again, when he (Mr Bhutto) became President, Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain met me in the Punjab House Rawalpindi. He gave blatant indications of his ambitions suggesting that, at this political juncture in the history of Pakistan, the new President would need a trustworthy man in the control of the judiciary.


He was gravely dejected when his expectations were not met, when a few months later Sardar Muhammad Iqbal was appointed as the Chief Justice of the Lahore High Court by my government. He did not conceal his anger. He displayed his resentment in many ways. When following the Constitutional Amendment, Mr. Justice Aslam Riaz Hussain was appointed as the Chief Justice of Lahore HC; he interpreted this second suppression to be an intolerable insult.”


But lack of fairness was not restricted to the high court; it permeated the Supreme Court too which found the objections rose by Bhutto not worthy of consideration as if there was a pact between the judges.


In early 2011, a reference (no: 1/2011), to have a fact finding verdict from the Supreme Court of Pakistan after thirty years, was moved by the then PPP Law Minister Babar Awan. In that petition Mr Awan contended that Z A Bhutto had died in custody much before he was hanged and alleged that it was a case of custodial assassination.


Babar Awan regretted that the high court had kept pending an application of Mr Bhutto to be decided after the trial in which he had expressed his apprehensions of an unfair trial by the court. Mr Awan also read out different applications and letters written by Mr Bhutto like that of 5th October 1977, challenging the maintainability of the trial; another letter of the same date highlighting bias of J Maulvi Mushtaq; application of 5th November 1977 expressing that he had no expectation of a fair trial; letter of 25th February 1978 sent to the then Punjab Governor requesting him to transfer the case to another bench with much other material.
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